Sortuz. Oñati Journal of Emergent Socio-legal Studies Volume 15, Issue 2 (2025), 457-482

ISSN 1988-0847

DOI link: https://doi.org/10.35295/sz.iisl.2309



The Rights of Nature: Three Models

Joel Colón-Ríos¹ Marina Lostal²

Abstract:

This article considers whether an approach to the rights of nature (RoN) that reproduces rights and legal personality (which we will call the Extension Model) can achieve the goal of profoundly transforming our relationship with nature. The paper argues, first, that some of the ways in which Ecuador and New Zealand have implemented RoN suggest that the Extension Model carries an in-built risk of duplicating existing frameworks of subordination and objectification of nature. Second, the paper explores alternative forms of constitutional organisation to materialise RoN's objectives: the All-Encompassing Model, where the preservation of nature would become the governing principle of the constitutional order; and the Co-Dependence Model, which would require awarding nature and humans equal consideration to ensure their mutual self-preservation. Overall, the paper shows that the recognition of rights or legal personality should not act as a conversation stopper; and that critical inquiries on how to prompt RoN's pursued paradigm shift need to be continued.

Keywords:

Extension Model, All-Encompassing Model, Co-Dependence Model, rights of nature.

Resumen:

Este artículo analiza si un enfoque de los derechos de la naturaleza (DD.NN.) que reproduce los derechos y la personalidad jurídica (lo que llamaremos el Modelo de Extensión) puede lograr el objetivo de transformar profundamente nuestra relación con la naturaleza. El artículo sostiene, en primer lugar, que algunas de las formas en que Ecuador

² Marina Lostal. Senior Lecturer, Essex Law School.



¹ Joel Colón-Ríos. Professor, Essex Law School; Adjunct Professor, Te Herenga Waka - Victoria University of Wellington. Email: joel.colon-rios@vuw.ac.nz

y Nueva Zelanda han implementado los DD.NN. sugieren que el Modelo de Extensión conlleva un riesgo inherente de duplicar los marcos existentes de subordinación y objetivación de la naturaleza. En segundo lugar, el artículo explora formas alternativas de organización constitucional para materializar los objetivos de los DD.NN: el Modelo Todo-Incluyente, donde la preservación de la naturaleza se convertiría en el principio rector del orden constitucional; y el Modelo de Codependencia, que requeriría otorgar a la naturaleza y a los seres humanos una consideración igual para garantizar su auto-preservación mutua. En general, el artículo demuestra que el reconocimiento de derechos o personalidad jurídica no debe actuar como una meta conseguida; y que las investigaciones críticas sobre cómo impulsar el cambio paradigmático que persiguen los DD.NN. han de continuar.

Palabras clave:

Modelo de Extensión, Modelo Todo-Incluyente, Modelo Codependencia, derechos de la naturaleza.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	460
2. The Extension Model	463
2.1. Extension of legal personality	465
2.2. Extension of Rights	466
3. The All-Encompassing Model	469
4. The Co-Dependence Model	472
5. Conclusion	475
References	476
Legislation	481
Constitutions	482
Case Law	489

1. Introduction

The rights of nature (RoN) movement envisages a world where non-human natural entities are no longer constrained by their current legal jacket -which allows them to be used, exploited and managed. Instead, it imagines a reality where nature becomes a subject with voice and agency to defend its own interests. This involves two leaps of faith. First, that of assuming that we can understand what nature would want to express as its own concerns; and second, presupposing that that we can correctly code nature's presumed interests in legal language, to provoke such change. Like every main character needs to do at the beginning for their story to unfold, nature must take a magical leap into the realm of the unknown; much like Alice decided to enter into Wonderland or Harry Potter crossed onto Platform 9 ¾. The RoN movement's objective is to procure a profound transformation in the way that society, legal systems and institutions have traditionally related to nature. It projects a reality governed by different formulas, actors and goals which would make no sense -and would come as a shock- in the world that has been left behind.

RoN's proponents prefers to refer to 'Nature' (Pelizzon 2025, 216) as opposed to 'the environment' as this latter concept is associated with attempts to reduce, compartmentalize and dominate the natural world. RoN's understanding of this new world is drastic in that it does not admit grey scales of adherence. Either nature becomes an entity with its own voice and interests - an entity that can enter into a non-pre-rigged conversation with other competing goals and interests- or it remains an object perennially subordinated to humanimposed goals. Some States are already positioning themselves on either side of this tectonic shift. On the one side, Ecuador, New Zealand, Bolivia, Colombia, India, Bangladesh or Spain (among others) have incorporated RoN into their national or local legal frameworks via constitutions, statutes, judicial decisions, ordinances, and the like (Newton and Killean 2024, Kahui et al. 2024, Pelizzon 2025). Others are starting to show sympathies with RoN (Putzer et al. 2025). For example, Ireland may become the first country in Europe - and second in the world- to recognise rights of nature in its constitution (Killean et al. 2024). The UN Secretary-General has recently acknowledged the "increasing success" of RoN and referred to it as a "a viable pathway to replace our exploitation of the natural world with socially and ecologically just methods of protecting Earth" (UN General Assembly 2024, para. 80).

On the other side of the spectrum, there are those that are trying to block RoN *ab initio*. For example, in February 2024, a British government official stated at an international forum that "rights can only be held by legal entities with a legal personality. We [in the UK] do not accept that rights can be applied to nature or Mother Earth" (Watts 2024). In May 2024, Bill H.B. 249 came into effect in the U.S. State of Utah. Now an ordinary statute, it establishes that "notwithstanding any other provision of law, a governmental entity may not grant legal personhood" to bodies of water, plants, non-human animals, or to "any other member of a taxonomic domain that is not a human being." In November 2024, the Spanish Constitutional Court responded to a challenge against the Mar Menor Law (Ley 19/2022, for a commentary see Krämer 2023) that granted legal personality to a lagoon in the South-East of the country. The challenge was launched by Vox, the Spanish right-wing party, under arguments such as that rights of nature would erode human dignity. The

[&]quot;Governmental entity" is defined in the bill as including the legislature and the courts.

Spanish Court endorsed the constitutionality of the 'Mar Menor' law, but only after a heated 7-5 split decision (Sentencia 142/2024). RoN laws, as these examples suggest, do not raise value-free questions of a technical character but rather entail a clash between different worldviews. The materialization of RoN is, and will continue to be, a site of contestation to which no State or organisation can remain indifferent in the long-term.

The RoN movement has had for many decades a conceptual and academic existence, stemming from both Indigenous philosophies and writings in Western circles, most influentially those of Christopher Stone and Godofredo Stutzin in its inception (Tănăsescu 2022, 20-32). Its overarching goal is making possible a new relationship between humans and non-human natural entities, where the latter are worth protecting for their intrinsic value (Kauffman and Martin 2021). In 2008, these ideas finally found a practical outlet when Ecuador introduced rights of nature in its constitution (Constitución de Ecuador 2008, article 71). In the following years, New Zealand granted legal personality to a forest, a river and a mountain (Te Urewera Act 2014, Te Awa Tupua [Whanganui River Claims Settlement] Act 2017, Taranaki Maunga Collective Redress Act 2025). Ecuador and New Zealand represent and pioneered the, so far, main method to try de-reify nature, what we will call the 'Extension Model'. In the Extension Model we propose, nature is assigned a legal characteristic that is already known to the legal system. In the case of Ecuador (and Bolivia, for example) this consists in extending rights to nature, and in the case of New Zealand (and Colombia, Peru, Spain, India etc.), legal personality (Kramm 2025).

Despite its undeniably innovative features, a key characteristic of this model is that it perfectly fits within existing juridical categories. It is an approach that, for example, seeks to expand the possible identity of a rights holder without fundamentally transforming what counts as a 'right' or the institutional context in which rights operate. Its virtue, and at the same time its greatest shortcoming, is that it does not require major overhauls to our legal institutions. It takes what we already have (e.g., rights, standing rules, rules around legal personhood) and expands it into the natural realm. The familiarity of this extension-technique stands in stark contrast with the uncharted character of the change RoN pursues. Critics already abound that highlight, for example, the theoretical contradictions of extending rights or legal personality to nature (Rawson and Mansfield 2018, Bétaille 2019, Kauffman and Martin 2021, Kurki 2022).

We contribute to this debate by questioning whether an approach that reproduces rights and legal personality is capable of achieving RoN's goal. We will do so, firstly, by considering some of the ways in which rights and legal personality have been implemented in practice. Ecuador and New Zealand, the trend-setters of the implementation of the idea of RoN, have now produced a sizeable volume of, respectively, constitutional judgements and legislative acts. These provide a tangible point of reference to critically evaluate whether the Extension-Model is capable of delivering on its promise. This first analysis also allows us to move to the second focus of the paper: in light of the practical shortcomings of the Extension-Model and its easy co-existence with the status quo, what other forms of constitutional organisation could contribute to the achievement of the objective of the RoN

² For Kauffman and Martin (2021, 7), "The ultimate goal of the RoN movement is a paradigm shift: to change the way people understand humans' relationship with Nature, change their behaviors in a way that is more ecologically sustainable, and change formal and informal rules to reinforce these behaviors."

³ For a recent critique of how the Ecuadorian cases scarcely deal with Indigenous philosophies and portray the relationship between human rights and RoN, see Tănăsescu *et al.* (2024) and, in relation to Colombia, González-Serrano (2024).

movement? What would be their comparative advantages and disadvantages? We will consider two potential alternatives to code nature's interest in the political and legal system. These alternatives, it will be seen, would require structural constitutional changes that go well beyond the extension of rights.

The first alternative, the 'All-Encompassing Model' (Part II) embraces the rights of nature as the fundamental principle of the constitutional order: all constitutional institutions must be designed in a way consistent with the realisation of that principle, to which every other law or policy is subordinate. Under such an approach, humans, as part of nature, would have rights, but on equal footing with animals, forests and rivers. These rights would have to be interpreted in light of the necessities of the relevant species or entity and, we will suggest, would likely require a completely alternative reality, possibly dystopian, with its own novel set of political institutions. The 'All-Encompassing Model' is an intellectual provocation to imagine what a truly radically different conception of nature as a central organising feature of all-life would look like. We pre-empt this analysis by warning that many of its ramifications are socially unacceptable and unpalatable; it may require, for example, an immediate reduction of human populations. The All-Encompassing model is thus, not a recommendation by any stretch, but an academic provocation.

The next alternative, the 'Co-Dependence Model', shares the separation (albeit partial) between human and non-human natural entities typical of the Extension Model. Nonetheless, it sees the possibility of human flourishing, and of the flourishing of nonhuman natural entities, as dependent of each other. On the one hand, human beings require certain natural conditions (aligned with the reproduction of natural life as we know it) in order to enjoy their rights. On the other hand, nature (understood as including animals, rivers, mountains, etc.) needs humans (as one of the animal species comprising it) as well as certain kinds of human institutions, for the recognition of its own needs and continuing existence. At the most basic level, this model requires constitutions that enable present and future generations to make and re-make the fundamental rules of the constitutional order and (re)organise the relationship between nature and the legal system. Importantly, they must be able to do so following a principle of long-term mutual selfpreservation (i.e. the co-dependence principle). As far as the rapport between humans and nature are concerned, this model requires democratic institutions that allow present and future generations to act independently from the views of the government of the day and (by implication) of the economic interests that influence or control it.

As will be seen below, some aspects of these models are present in other academic approaches and proposals. We are presenting them here as ideal types for analytical purposes. They also differ in important ways from other classifications, particularly because we see developments in countries like Ecuador and New Zealand as belonging to the same model: the extension of certain legal protections usually associated with humans and artificial persons to nature or specific natural entities. Kauffman and Martin, for example, categorise New Zealand and Ecuador as belonging to different models, partly on the basis of the type of legal provisions that characterise their approach to RoN: ordinary legislation in New Zealand and constitutional law in Ecuador (to these two models, they contrast that of the United States, where RoN protections have been adopted by local governments and tribal authorities). Kauffman and Martin (2021, 60-61). Our approach focuses instead on the place of RoN within the larger constitutional order and its driving principles. Moreover, our models are domestic in nature (they are about new forms of constitutional organisation within existing states), while the problem they seek to tackle is clearly global and may require transnational solutions. Nonetheless, as the RoN movement (which, at least for now, has largely resulted in domestic constitutional changes), these alternatives could also be developed in a global or transnational direction. For approaches that follow that route, see for example Kotzé (2016), Gilbert *et al.* (2023), Kim and Bosselmann (2015).

Based on the shortcomings of the Extension Model, we imagine ways to fill existing gaps and foretell other in-built problems. We posit that there are no quick fixes or one-solutionfits-all to fundamentally transform how the legal system codes our rapport with nature. The significance of our contribution lies in rendering clear that granting rights to nature or affording legal personality to a river should not be perceived as automatically amounting to a paradigm shift. In other words, the recognition of the so-called rights of nature should not act as a conversation stopper, but rather as an invitation to continue critically inquiring and searching for appropriate responses to materialise the goals of this movement. Such an endeavour is urgent. As the Inter-American Court of Human Rights has recently noted, the recognition of RoN makes visible nature's "structural role in the vital balance of the conditions that make this planet inhabitable" (Advisory Opinion AO-32/25, para. 280) That recognition should nonetheless be understood as only the beginning, as a way of realising the extent to which the prevailing modes of constitutional organisation can facilitate the destruction of nature and act as obstacles to any more or less ordinary legal means to stopping it. Our analysis, in this sense, is directed both as social movements pushing forward the objectives behind the adoption of RoN, and at academic and constitutional lawyers engaged in different ways in attempts to facilitate those objectives through law. In pursuing that latter, we focus on the place of RoN in relation to basic constitutional principles and forms of constitutional organisation.

2. THE EXTENSION MODEL

The RoN movement has gained traction with the advent of climate change and what has been described by some as the Anthropocene / Capitalocene (Crutzen 2006, Moore 2016, Witze 2024). Aware of the highway to destruction that lies ahead of us if nothing changes, it purports transcending the present regulatory paradigm where nature appears as a mere means for human activities. It also aspires to fill the space that law and, in particular, environmental law, have proven unable to occupy. Environmental law, be it in its domestic or international dimension, has been chided with being one of the factors that has propelled the so-called triple planetary crisis (Turner 2014, section 3.4.2, Kotzé *et al.* 2021, Gilbert *et al.* 2023 51-55). Its goals are structurally aligned with the path and speed of the prevailing economic system and its commitment to profit because, instead of questioning the dominant behaviour and shielding nature against capitalist ventures, it measures and regulates the degree of damage and destruction necessary in extractivist activities. The landmark Stockholm 1972 and Rio 1992 Declarations, spinal cords of international environmental law, are actively anthropocentric and arguably conceive the environment as a backdrop to use, abuse and, potentially, sacrifice.

While the Western division between human/nature is usually criticized, the 1972 Stockholm declaration takes it a step further by referring to the environment as something of humans: the expression 'human environment' is repeated throughout the 1972 Stockholm Declaration, including in its title. The declaration constantly plays a double game, suggesting that development and technology are answers to environmental concerns, rather than its causes (Pallemaerts 1996 as cited in Atapattu 2002, 78). The document marks the coming of maturity of both the ideology and the rhetoric underpinning environmental law. This and the 1992 Rio Declaration, which has been described as

-

⁵ For example, principle 5 says that "Along with social progress and the advance of production, science and technology, the capability of man to improve the environment increases with each passing day."

deliriously anthropocentric, ⁶ became the standard of legitimacy of environmental regulation. ⁷ The UN 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development perpetuates the use of the planet as a place that needs to be managed to support human needs. ⁸ That is why environmental law is considered complicit in the destruction of nature and the rise of capitalism (M'Gonigle 2008, Grear 2017).

One implication of environmental law is that nature lacks the capacity to represent and formulate its own interests in the face of claims over its integrity because it appears as a site of management and supervision (Luke 1995, 65), not an entity with agency. This is exemplified in the landmark US Supreme Court case Sierra Club v. Morton (1972), where the Sierra Club environmental group challenged the construction of a Disney ski resort in a California valley. The Supreme Court ruled that the Sierra Club lacked standing, as its members failed to demonstrate direct and personal injury to their rights or property. This decision highlights how legal frameworks, despite the existence of environmental law, are rooted in highly compartmentalized and individualistic entitlements. They subordinate the environment to economic growth and only respond with protective measures in instances of direct and demonstrable affront to a legally recognised interest. And legal systems recognise certain interests while systematically excluding others, such as the deep interconnection between humans and nature, and the lives of non-humans. Moreover, they emphasize on short-term gains because, by insisting on proving direct injury, they remain indifferent to the slow violence exerted upon nature and the complex ways in which environmental harm unfolds over time.

6

⁶ See principle 1 of the 1992 Rio Declaration setting the tone: "Human beings are at the centre of concerns for sustainable development. They are entitled to a healthy and productive life in harmony with nature." This is reminiscent of the 1972 Stockholm statement according to which "[o]f all things in the world, people are the most precious. It is the people that propel social progress, create social wealth, develop science and technology and, through their hard work, continuously transform the human environment" (principle 5).

For example, the 1989 Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, as most international environmental treaties, recalls the 1972 Stockholm Declaration in its preamble. The Basel Convention's focus lies on State's sovereign rights to send/receive waste, whereas calls for reducing their production represents an aspirational periphery of the document. In other words, this IEL treaty tolerates substances harmful to the environment and regulates their movement. The UN Framework Convention on Climate Change from 1992, which preamble also recalls the 1972 Stockholm Declaration, vows to stabilize and control greenhouse emissions so that they do not amount to "dangerous ... interference with the climate system" (art. 2) The Convention treats the environment as an entity that needs to be subject to scientific calculation and manipulation so that it yields an optimal medium for human needs. Article 2 continues: "[s]uch a level [of gas concentration in the atmosphere] should be achieved within a time-frame sufficient to allow ecosystems to adapt naturally to climate change, to ensure that food production is not threatened and to enable economic development to proceed in a sustainable manner.

⁸ "We are determined to protect the planet from degradation, including through sustainable *consumption* and *production*, sustainably *managing* its natural resources and taking urgent action on climate change, so that it can support the needs of the present and future generations", preamble, paragraph 6 (emphases added). It remains unclear who the agenda is referring to when it says "we" are determined, raising questions of democratic deficit (the 2030 Agenda was prepared by world leaders in 2015, many of which may not be in office anymore, which makes one wonder what legitimacy they had to dictate a plan that would outlive their mandate).

⁹ Nixon (2011, 19) defines slow violence as "violence that occurs gradually and out of sight, a violence of delayed destruction ... an attritional violence that is typically not viewed as violence at all" but that is instead "incremental and accretive, its calamitous repercussions playing out across a range of temporal scales."

Justice O. Douglas, inspired by the academic work of Stone (1972), ¹⁰ appended a dissenting opinion in the Sierra Club case where he argued that, just as ships and corporations are afforded legal personality for the purposes of adjudicatory processes, so should "valleys, alpine meadows, rivers, lakes" due to the threats they face in modern life. This extension of legal personhood to nature is precisely the method that New Zealand championed, starting in 2014, when it declared Te Urewera (a forest and natural park) to be a legal person. In the remainder of this section, we consider some of the shortcomings of the Extension Model by examining key aspects of its implementation, primarily in New Zealand and Ecuador. ¹¹

2.1. EXTENSION OF LEGAL PERSONALITY

Legal personality is a fiction that allows corporations to carry out the daily transactions needed by an economic system which is in turn based on growth and expansion. Applying this same fiction to nature, not to enable but to hinder these processes, is fundamentally at odds with the order of things. Extending legal personality to nature ensures that it becomes part of the legal traffic, but not that it goes in a radically different direction from the other vessels (Reeves and Peters 2021, 477). Law and its legal fictions are articulations of the system's self-concept of what ought-to-be. "Law and culture are [...] mutually constitutive" and thus, rules that help materialize the prevailing "wider worldview" (de Lucia 2013, 171). This legal status is a new experience for nature, but there is nothing novel in the concept of legal personhood. Nature does not change what a legal person is or what it can do (e.g. have entitlements, incur into liability); nor where it operates, that is, in a system with other legal and natural persons with their own competing entitlements. Extending legal personality is not a tailored solution for RoN, but a new legal garment with pre-existing seams. In employing the system's own methods against itself, nature is made to adhere to the same formulas and dichotomies of inclusion of certain interests to the exclusion of others and navigate in hostile territory in perpetuity.

For example, the acclaimed New Zealand Te Awa Tupua Act declared the Whanganui River, "from the mountains to the sea, incorporating all its physical and metaphysical elements," to be an indivisible and living whole with "all the rights, powers, duties, and liabilities of a legal person" (s 14(1)). The river can now behave like a business, invest, incur into debt, or objectify its components if their representatives (Te Pou Tupua) deem that such course of action is ultimately geared in the river's interest. In discharging their function as faces of the river, the Te Pou Tupua must uphold "to promote and protect the health and well-being of Te Awa Tupua" (s. 19(1)(c)). Yet, there is nothing in the Act that preempts subjecting the Whanganui River to a utilitarian logic because said logic, if framed

¹⁰ C. Stone (1972) wrote this article directly engaging with the *Sierra Club* case, while it was still pending before the US Supreme Court, see e.g., p. 469.

[&]quot;The Extension Model can have other, perhaps more promising, implications when applied to specific groups of non-human entities, such as sentient animals. See for example Adenitire and Fassel (2025, xxii): "As beings who are governed by constitutions, we argue, animals should be recognized as having 'constitutional worth', that is, as having interests that are of constitutional importance." *Ibid.* xivi. Adenitire and Fassel are also open to the possibility that this approach is extended to other non-natural entities: "[W]e view the theory of sentience-based constitutionalism as complementary to other proposals for future oriented constitutionalisms, including models of environmental constitutionalism, which aim to extend constitutional protections to a larger set of natural entities." Their proposal also includes important constitutional changes. "The orthodox (traditional) conception of legal person "involves either the holding of rights and bearing of duties or the 'legal capacity' to hold rights and bear duties," see Kurki (2019, 4). Kurki problematizes this traditional view and proposes a new theory of legal personhood.

well, is not inimical to the overarching goal of promoting and protecting the health and well-being of Te Awa Tupua. For instance, there is nothing in the Act that pre-emptively forbids using the river for economic activities. Temporarily granting a downstream zone for extraction or exploitation to generate revenue for conservation projects upstream or to generate emergency funds, could thus be justified in the name of the overall river's interest.

The granting of legal personality to the Whanganui River—along with Te Urewera National Park and Mount Taranaki— is also an exercise of selection and exclusion. First, unlike corporations, which can gain legal status by meeting standardised criteria, nature is granted legal personality through a highly selective, politically driven process. The NZ acts do not constitute a neutral recognition but a controlled decision, where only certain natural entities are chosen. In that context, the extension of personality to nature can be understood as being less about acknowledging its intrinsic value, dignity or interests and more about power struggles over who controls a river, forest or mountain (Tănăsescu 2022, 82). ¹³ In comparison to corporations and ships, natural elements continue to be legally underprivileged. If the approach were truly principled, natural entities would not gain legal status through *ad hoc* legislation but through a consistent rules-based framework, much like an entity in England can incorporate itself following the rules of the Companies Act [2006].

Second, granting legal personality to these natural entities entails an implicit denial of the same status to all other rivers, national parks and mountains. Elevating a particular river as a legal person ultimately reinforces hierarchies and patterns of exclusion. It draws artificial boundaries between what is cared for and what is not, reflecting human history¹⁴ rather than a true eco-centric paradigm shift. Lastly, if legal personality was to serve as a gateway to granting rights to nature, this approach would fundamentally contradict core principles associated with rights, such as equality and non-discrimination. For example, the Spanish law declaring the Mar Menor a legal person includes a section that states the lagoon (i.e., not similar lagoons or other natural entities) has the right to exist and evolve naturally (art. 2(a)). One could argue that the task of granting rights to nature is an imperfect process, and that is to be expected that some natural elements will have such rights recognised ahead of others, just like some groups were the first recipients of rights. This leads us to the next critical inquiry concerning the rights dimension of the extension model. We assess if the prospect of granting rights to all and each element of nature can lead to the qualitative change the RoN movement envisages.

2.2. EXTENSION OF RIGHTS

Around the same time that the *Sierra Club v. Morton* was decided, Stutzin, the Chilean lawyer and activist, proposed not only granting legal personality to nature, but also recognising its rights. He called for an ecocentric paradigm shift in which nature's interests would be defended independently of human concerns. Stutzin argued that by elevating nature from a mere legal object to a subject of rights, it would transcend its subordination to interests driven by human goals (Stutzin 1984, Bosselmann 2010). However, just like with legal personality, this approach comes at the cost of making nature inherit rights' ideological baggage and constricting it to operate within their pre-imagined boundaries.

Tănăsescu argues that these acts respond to the specific NZ context, trying to mend past colonial governance arrangements, and rather represent "a new *political* arrangement, over and beyond the legal innovation."

¹⁴ All acts include an official apology to the Māori (e.g. see s 70 of Te Awa Tupua Act 2017 and s 111(d) of the Te Urewera Act 2014).

Awarding rights to nature cannot be understood as a magic spell that guarantees it interests would become inviolable. Instead, it situates natures' claims within a new normative playing field with different game rules. This new normative playing field is characterised by latent clashes between rights and systemic goals, uncertainty of the relationship between nature and human rights, and a lack of determinacy of what nature rights imply (i.e. what state of affairs they require), and in relation to what 'part' of nature.

At the systemic level, human rights find limitations in the form of national security, public order, health or morals. ¹⁵ Rights work within, and in acceptance of, a pre-established system which, in turn, finds expression through the authority of the State and its espoused economic model. Rights claims must acknowledge and submit to the pre-existing structures and objectives because their own existence depend on this acceptance. There is, for lack of better words, a sacrificial dimension to rights. To be sure, civil and political rights (e.g. freedom of expression, freedom of assembly etc.) are heavily descriptive and contingent of liberal democracies. Similarly, the overarching obligation to progressively develop and promote economic, social, and cultural rights requires States to possess adequate resources, which depend on States' capacity to generate and retain wealth. This often puts States into the indirect (human rights mandated) obligation to pursue profit-generating activities. Under the prevailing economic model, it is hard to think of any profit-generating paradigm that does not involve some level of environmental harm (Fyock 2025, 3). ¹⁶

In practice (and despite proposals that push in other directions), the dominant view is that there is no alternative to achieve wealth than that of pursuing economic growth. If a State wants to generate wealth by investing in, say, AI technologies, this is always at an environmental cost (Shaji George *et al.* 2023, Zewe 2025). If a poor country does not have the capacity to invest in new technologies but is rich in resources, the chances are that it will try to generate money by allowing foreign companies to mine their nature (i.e. resources) (World Bank 2021, 3). In foreign investment strategy, States compete with each other to attract foreign investment, and one obvious way of making one's land more attractive is that of having lenient environmental rules, giving way to a "regulatory chill in a warming world" (Tienhaara 2018, Yilmaz Vastardis 2024). This is all to say that respecting nature is an expensive endeavour if one continues to regard it as a resource (Gudynas 2012).

The individual pursuit of both civil and political rights, as well as economic, social, and cultural (ESC) rights, requires a certain degree of material well-being to meaningfully desire or exercise, say, one's freedom of religion or participation in cultural life (Chibber 2024, 13-14). For persons to enjoy a satisfactory level of material well-being they need to be able to produce wealth, mostly through labour, and retain what they generate as their own property. Moreover, with few exceptions, since rights are so overwhelmingly 'me' and 'me first' focused, they individualize struggle. By compartmentalizing reality in sectorial rights, human rights architecture forgoes the ability for group contestation of the whole (Douzinas

¹⁵ See, e.g., articles 12, 14, 19, 21 and 22 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, presenting public morals or national security as limitations to rights such as freedom of association, expression, peaceful assembly and the like.

¹⁶ Fyock maintains that in the context of investment law, "environmental degradation is intrinsic to capitalist production."

¹⁷ The World Bank reports illustrates how many countries are depleting their natural resources "in favor of short-term boosts in income or consumption".

¹⁸ Incidentally, property is framed as a human right, rather than a structural necessity of the prevailing social and economic order.

2019). Rights are apt to tackle intrusions committed within the system (via States and other actors) but not to challenge the system as such, wherein growth is a fixed (and aspired to) feature. This unyielding drive perpetually threatens to objectify nature, reducing it to a mere resource for capital gain. A final blow to the rights-extension approach is that, as a vehicle, rights are ill-suited to serve nature's claims. Rights gain their strength by being explicitly tied to identifiable subjects and concrete legal provisions. That is, the more clearly a right articulates its scope and application, the more effective it is in guiding behaviour and enforcing protections: e.g. equal rights of women to acquire, change or retain their nationality (art. 9 CEDAW); respect for the right of the child to preserve his or her identity (art. 8 CRC); freedom of humans from torture (art. 7 ICCPR) etc.

This key feature is difficult to transfer to nature. Its vastness and the complexity of its life both as an interconnected whole and in its individual components- resist being broken down into specific identities or predetermined claims. It is therefore unsurprising that the Constitution of Ecuador uses sweeping language and grants nature, as a whole, "the right to integral respect for its existence and for the maintenance and regeneration of its life cycles, structure, functions and evolutionary processes" (art. 71). This is as if human rights had been expressed in just one vague statement that society has the right to a good life, without making further specifications of which humans and through what rights. A right framed as an imprecise aspiration can mean everything and nothing at once. Even worse, it demands action without providing direction, creating a normative void that can be filled and captured by pre-existing legal principles and dominant dynamics. This is what has happened in Ecuador where the Constitutional Court, when developing the concept of nature's rights, has registered two marked tendencies: one where rights of nature are easily overridden by economic interests; and another where the content of those rights has begun to be colonized by earlier legal figures, such as the rules of classical environmental law (Lostal and Colón-Ríos 2025).

For example, in case no 32-17-IN (2021), the Ecuadorian Constitutional Court assessed the constitutionality of a norm within the Environmental Regulation for Mining Activities that allowed for the diversion, transfer, damming, or modification of the natural course of water bodies if a mining project required it (arts. 86 and 136). The Court established that these articles were unconstitutional for formal reasons, but found no substantive contradiction with the rights of nature. It declared that the challenged provisions were unconstitutional because the permission to modify a river's flow was not assigned to the correct level of authority (Sentencia No. 32-17-IN/21, para. 67). It then explored whether this type of water deviation for mining purposes would materially infringe the rights of nature. The Court concluded that, if the intervention was performed in a way that respected nature as well as the regeneration of its life cycles, and the precautionary principle was observed, it was not, in the abstract, incompatible with the rights of nature.

One is left to wonder, if diverting a river's flow for mining purposes is not contrary to rights of nature, then what is? Despite their nominal existence, and their constitutional rank, rights of nature proved redundant in helping nature shed its long-held identity as a resource. The previously discussed judgment is no outlier. The Court's most recent decision on the matter concerned a constitutional challenge filed against Article 104 of the Organic Law for the Development of Aquaculture and Fishing (LODAP) (Sentencia 95-20-IN/24). The plaintiffs brought a public action of unconstitutionality, arguing that the rule was incompatible with the constitutional right to the integral conservation of nature. Article 104 of LODAP establishes that the first eight nautical miles from the Ecuadorian continental

coastline are designated as an artisanal fishing zone, where aquatic species recruitment processes take place. This area can be extended after assessment, but it cannot be reduced. The plaintiffs argued that "[a]n inflexible zoning such as that established by Article 104 of LODAP [...] could generate an anthropogenic disaster, which would result in the extinction of many species" (Sentencia 95-20-IN/24, para. 10).

The Ecuadorian Constitutional Court acknowledged that marine-coastal ecosystems are holders of constitutional rights, including the rights to conservation and restoration, and therefore deserve protection (Sentencia 95-20-IN/24, para. 48). However, it reasoned that fishing activities are expressly permitted under the Constitution, provided they are regulated by the competent authorities to avoid disproportionate impacts on ecosystems (Sentencia 95-20-IN/24, para. 55). The Court ultimately found no violation of nature's rights. It held that the existence of these rights does not bar the exploitation of marine resources or the right to carry out economic activities, so long as such activities abide by regulatory standards (Sentencia 95-20-IN/24, paras. 64 and 83).

This decision highlights a recurring pattern in Ecuadorian constitutional jurisprudence. While the Court rhetorically recognises ecosystems as subjects of rights, it immediately frames those rights within the boundaries of preexisting economic activities such as fishing (including traditional fishing) in accordance to established environmental regulations. In practice, this means that the rights of nature are not applied as imposing categorical limits; rather, they are subordinated to and balanced against the constitutional mandate to permit economic activities. What emerges is a model that is nearly indistinguishable from classical environmental law. The innovative promise of nature's rights - to shift the legal paradigm by granting ecosystems intrinsic entitlements beyond human interests - becomes diluted. The Court's reasoning reduces these rights to a regulatory check, enforceable only insofar as authorities exercise their discretion responsibly. Even in cases where an activity has been prohibited, like in the *Los Cedros* case (Sentencia No. 1149-19-JP/21), the rights of nature were not determinative because the solution reached rested on the application of environmental principles (Lostal and Colón-Ríos 2025, 37).

The rights discourse is undoubtedly a powerful one, which may limit our ability to think beyond rights. In short, affording rights to nature may be conflating, on the one hand, the goal of nature's emancipation from its thing status with, on the other hand, the method to achieve that goal. This has come at the cost of confining nature to the fixed, predetermined path and limitations of rights, like a train bound to its tracks. It is a mode of proceeding that carries with itself an in-built risk of duplicating existing frameworks of subordination and objectification of nature. But if the extension of rights is not it, then what?

3. THE ALL-ENCOMPASSING MODEL

What we call the "All-Encompassing Model" is presented not as a proposal for institutional change, but as an analytical tool. It highlights the shortcomings of the Extension Model and, at the same time, allows us to see some of the reasons (practical and theoretical) that may push against its alternatives. The All-Encompassing Model requires us to attribute to constitutions a novel purpose: that of realising the rights of nature as a whole, that is, the

rights of human and non-human natural entities. ¹⁹ In so doing, we will argue, it would ensure the protection of nature, but at a price that we may not be willing to pay: the limitation of fundamental human rights (including, in extreme scenarios, the right to life) may become necessary for other natural entities to flourish. This model would also face other practical challenges. In particular, it would inevitably clash with the goals of the prevailing forms of economic organisation. For example, the creation of more value (unless resulting in a dramatic improvement in the quality of human life without at the same time causing harm to nature) would seldom prevail over the interests of a river or a mountain.

Contemporary constitutions are generally understood as having one main purpose: organising and, at the same time limiting, the exercise of political power (Sartori 1962). The different principles and institutions contained or reflected in a constitution are all directed toward achieving that objective (Barber 2018). The principles of the rule of law or the separation of powers, for instance, are concerned with limiting state authority. The institution of judicial review of executive or legislative action ensures that those branches of government do not exceed their jurisdiction. Often, those jurisdictional limits will be found, precisely, on rights. These rights can be traditional human rights or, as in the Extension Model, rights of nature. Indeed, some constitutions explicitly identify the protection of rights as one of their very purposes. The Colombian Constitution, for instance, affirms: "The essential goals of the State are to serve the community, promote the general prosperity, and guarantee the effectiveness of the principles, rights, and duties stipulated by the Constitution" (Constitution of Colombia 1991, Article 2). What if constitutions were conceived in a different way, what if their primary objective was the realisation of the rights of nature? (Eckersley 2004, Donaldson and Kymlicka 2013) What if the rights of nature, rather than being simply part of a constitution (or limited, for example, to standing or legal personality rights) were understood as the fundamental principle animating the constitutional order itself?

Such a constitution would involve, first, a very different relationship between human rights and the rights of non-human natural entities. Instead of simply seeing non-human natural entities as potential bearers of rights, as in the Extension Model, the rights of nature would appear as the fundamental principle that the constitution seeks to realise. Both its dogmatic (i.e. its rights provisions) and organic (i.e. the structure of government) parts would have to be organised in a way that points in that direction. This means, on the one hand, that the distinction between human rights and the rights of non-human natural entities becomes unstable: both types of rights would be protected by provisions seeking to realise the same general principle. In other words, human rights would be protected only because humans are part of nature.²⁰ On the other hand, those rights would be subject to limits that are not

-

¹⁹ In this sense, it would point toward a non-anthropocentric form of constitutional organisation, which rejects the established hierarchies between humans and other non-human entities. For a critical discussion of legal and constitutional anthropocentrism, see Adentire and Fassel (2025, 7). This kind of view has of course been advanced by others. See for example Jones (2021, 85), Bennett (2010, ix).

²⁰ A very similar notion is reflected in Earth System Law theory. See e.g., Kotzé and Kim (2019, 7): "[Earth law] is Earth-centred in the sense that it considers neither humanity nor nature as a central reference point, but rather the entire community of life as the central fulcrum around which it revolves." Similarly, Cullinan (2021, 236) has identified one of the principles of Earth Jurisprudence "to decide between competing rights on the basis of what is best for Earth as a whole and thereby contribute to maintaining a dynamic balance between the rights of humans and those of other members of the Earth Community..." See also Berry (1999), Cullinan (2011), Bosselmann and Taylor (2017). These similarities do not mean that bodies of thought described by labels such as Earth System Governance or Earth Jurisprudence, are interchangeable with the recognition of the rights of nature. Kauffman and Martin (2021, 8) explain the distinction as follows: "[T]he

necessarily related to conflicts between human rights and compelling state interests, but to the need to protect nature as a whole. The right to property or the right to housing, for example, could be subject to limits that arise from the rights of rivers and, conversely, the rights of rivers could be subject to limits that arise from the right to property or the right to housing. And those conflicts would have to be resolved in a way that does not assume, for example, that human interests in economic growth must be in some way facilitated by the legal system or should enjoy any kind of priority.²¹

The fundamental principle of protecting the rights of nature would thus mean that humans would have no prima facie priority over non-human entities. It would not be as if human have rights and then decide to extend them to rivers or mountains, but that the constitutional order, from its inception, would seek to realise nature's rights. Needless to say, such a type of constitutional arrangement could not exist without a major change in economic and social conditions. In particular, economic growth would most likely have to be moved to a secondary place. In short, the model would require an economic reordering inconsistent with the advanced capitalism of contemporary societies. As noted earlier, this model would also have implications for the organic part of the constitution: it would need to be accompanied by different institutions, by a new type of State. The interests represented in the legislature, for instance, would not be the interests of "the people" or the "nation", but that of nature. This would probably require novel law-making processes that are somehow able to, when necessary, move human interests to a secondary plane. That would seem to be the greatest challenge to the implementation of such a model and the reason why, from a human perspective, it would seem as highly undesirable.

In the same way the protection of a particular species would sometimes require the partial destruction of another, the protection of nature may sometime require major reductions in human populations. Such results would perhaps not be necessary in a different world, that is to say, in a world in which the human relationship to the planet had been radically different, but would seem to be required by this model in the type of world we have created. What the All-Encompassing Model allows us to see, however, is that there may not only be different ways of conceiving who counts as a right-holder, but alternative understandings of the place of the rights of nature within a constitutional order and of the purpose of the constitutional order itself. Moreover, the structural obstacles toward the establishment of the All-Encompassing Model (i.e., the economics and institutional limits that push against

Earth Jurisprudence norm says human systems should be constructed to coincide with the natural laws governing ecosystem functioning. The RoN norm says that ecosystems should be recognised as legal subjects with rights and legal standing, and that Nature's rights should be incorporated into a broader rights framework governing the planet sustainability. These are related -but distinct- norms."

This view is to some extent present in judge Ramiro Avila's concurrent opinion in Sentencia 32-17-IN/21. Such a conception would of course need to rest on a theory that allows us to discriminate between intrinsically valuable (e.g. a forest) and non-intrinsically valuable (e.g. a virus) natural entities.

²² A key question here is of course how to determine what is in the interests of a non-human natural entity. At the very least, things that promote the interests of a natural entity allow it to flourish and to exist over time in ways that are consistent with their particular necessities as an animal species, plant, or natural entity. For a discussion in the context of sentient animals, see Adenitire and Fassel (2025, 56). For more general discussions on the difficulty of identifying what is in nature interests, see Cochrane (2013, 658) and Jones (2021, 95)

This approach could be developed along the lines of Latour (2004)'s concept of the 'Parliament of Things'. It could also involve reserved parliamentary seats for humans tasked to promote the interests of nonhuman entities, as has been argued in other contexts (Bennett 2010, Magaña 2022).

it) also illustrate the strong connections between the prevailing model of rights-extension and the dominant forms of social and political organisation.

4. THE CO-DEPENDENCE MODEL

A possible response to the potential threat to human survival and well-being posed by the All-Encompassing Model would look at the relationship between the exercise of political power and the natural environment. This approach, which we call the Co-Dependence Model, rests in a partial separation between humans and nature, one that at the same time recognises their co-dependence.²⁴ Unlike the Extension- and All-Encompassing models, it does not prioritise the constitutional recognition of rights, neither human nor natural. This is not to say that it is incompatible with such recognition or that it may not ultimately require it, but that its point of departure is a different one. Instead of being concerned with the limitation of public and private power so that human rights and the rights of nature are not violated, it instead focuses on enabling, on the one hand, the possibility of human political action (in the last instance reflected in the possibility of present and future generations of engaging in exercises of democratic constituent authority) and, on the other, the reproduction of nature as we know it. As such, we will argue, it does not present an alternative to the dominant RoN model, but rather an initial framework for the development of future alternatives.

The model is based on a very old idea: that communities of human beings, just by virtue of existing, have the authority to decide about their own form of government, about the type of constitutional order they will live under. This is a view that can be traced back to 17th century social contract theory and that, since the 18th century, has been associated with the theory of constituent power (i.e., the idea that the people possesses an unlimited and inalienable constitution-making authority) (Kalyvas 2018). The Co-Dependence Model takes seriously the inter-generational implications of that theory: for human communities to have the possibility of creating and (re)creating their constitutional order through democratic mechanisms, the people of the here and now should not act in ways that deprive future generations of their constituent authority. After all, the democratic legitimacy of a constitution, as one of us has argued elsewhere, depends precisely on its opening to future exercises of constituent power, to the ever-present possibility of future democratic transformations (Colón-Ríos 2012). A people may, as a matter of pure fact, sanction a permanent dictatorship, but that such an act would lack democratic legitimacy. It would not even count as an exercise of constituent power, since it would have resulted in a constitution that negates (from a theoretical and institutional perspective) the people's authority to give itself novel constitutional forms.

The Co-Dependence Model takes that logic to its natural conclusion: in the same way that the establishment of an undemocratic constitutional order would negate the possibility of future exercises of constituent authority, decisions that threaten the continuing existence and reproduction of nature have the same effect.²⁵ For human communities to be able to

²⁴ This idea is of course present in the academic literature and also in RoN jurisprudence. It was, for example, present in the majority opinion in the *Los Cedros* case, where the connection between human rights and RoN was stressed (sentencia No. 1149-19-JP/21, para 171). On the reciprocal relationship between the human and non-human world, see Merchant (1989, 8).

²⁵ This approach could be understood as inconsistent with traditional conceptions of constituent power, which emphasise the authority of present generations to depart from decisions made in the past. So, for example,

engage in democratic acts of constitution-making, the continuing existence and reproduction of nature is thus a necessary condition. At the same time, the continuing existence and reproduction of nature (which can be understood, as it were, as nature's basic mode of action), requires constitutional orders that allow present generations to alter the relationship between human and non-human entities when necessary to protect their (and future generations') capacity for future political action. Accordingly, and unlike the All-Encompassing Model, the Co-Dependence Model requires the flourishing of democratic human communities so that they are in a position to transcend immediate economic interests and establish constitutional orders that, in one way or another, protect both human and non-human natural entities.

From a human perspective, the Co-Dependence Model is about protecting the conditions that enable democratic political action and, from the perspective of nature, about enabling its reproduction. The former conditions are not only institutional but material in nature: the possibility of democratic political action depends, in important ways, on the extent to which all members of a community have easy and continued access to the basic needs for human life. In other words, the alleviation of poverty is a necessary condition for democracy. But in the prevailing mode of economic organisation, attempts to improve the life of those that are worst off often come at a heavy environmental price, as we have seen in countries like Ecuador and Bolivia. In those jurisdictions, and despite the presence of RoN provisions in their constitutions or national legislation, progressive governments consolidated past extractivist practices in order to make different social programmes possible (Gudynas 2012). In this sense, the implementation of something like the Co-Dependence Model would require fundamental change, not only at the level of constitutional law, but at that of their basic economic structures.

We are presenting the Co-Dependence model as a way of imagining future alternatives. That said, in order to give the model a minimal degree of specificity, in what follows we consider what we think are some of its potential institutional implications. First, the constitutional order should rest on the recognition that its very establishment, and the possibility of its revision and improvement, depends on the continuing existence of nature as we know it. This is not a common feature of contemporary constitutions which, instead, consecrate the artificial separation between humans and nature as two hermetic separate universes. The Preamble to the Constitution of Bolivia (2008) is perhaps the closest we may find to the recognition of the co-dependence between the exercise of constituent power and nature: "We found Bolivia anew, fulfilling the mandate of our people, with the strength of our Pachamama and with gratefulness to God." But what we have in mind is more than

¹⁸th century authors such as Thomas Paine, Emmanuel Sieyes, and Thomas Jefferson thought that present generations had the authority to create, at any moment, any constitution they wanted. Thomas Paine, for example, maintained that "there ought to be, in the constitution of every country, a mode of referring back, on any extraordinary occasion, to the sovereign and original constituent power, which is the nation itself", and that "[e]very age and generation must be as free to act for itself, in all cases, as the ages and generations that preceded it" (Paine 1824; 1953, 87, 76). In exercising that power, Sieyes thought, the will of the constituent subject, "is always legal. It is the law itself" Sieyès (2003, 136). In that same vein, Jefferson insisted that "the earth belongs always to the living generation. They may manage it, and what proceeds from it, as they please, during their usufruct" (Jefferson 1999). Those statements, however, have important inter-generational implications that require something akin to the Co-Dependence Model: the "living generation" must be free to live under any constitution it wants, but the same applies to those generations living in the future. And for those future generations to be able to engage in political action, present generations must exercise their political power in a way that protects the continuing existence and reproduction of nature.

²⁶ Emphasis added. The Constitution of Ecuador also contains a reference to nature in the preamble, which the Constitutional Court emphasised in a key 2021 decision: "Al destacar esta relación, la Constitución, en

a symbolic recognition: the idea that the continuing existence and reproduction of nature is a necessary condition for the possibility of present and future exercises of constituent authority must be a fundamental constitutional principle that stands besides other principles such as the separation of powers or the rule of law. As a fundamental principle of the constitutional order, the *co-dependence principle* would have important implications not only for constitutional interpretation but for any exercise of political power.

Second, a constitutional order consistent with the Co-Dependence Model would make possible, from a formal perspective, the future exercise of constituent power. This means, on the one hand, that it is incompatible with authoritarian or non-democratic forms of political organization. On the other hand, it would require much more than a democratic constitutional amendment formula. It would point towards the possibility of convening, at any time, a formal site of popular action with the power to transform the constitution in fundamental ways. Such an instance of popular action would not necessarily be used to improve the constitutional system (e.g., to transform it in ways that further realise the codependence principle), but their potential independence from government provides an additional means for individuals and social movements to try and challenge the economic and political interests of the day. The constituent assembly convened from below (that is, by popular initiative), present in the constitutions of Bolivia and Ecuador, would seem to satisfy that criterion (Colón-Ríos 2020). As suggested above, while the availability of such a mechanism serves to remind us of the inter-generational aspect of constituent power, it does not provide any guarantees that they will be used (if ever) in a way consistent with the co-dependence principle.

The realisation of the co-dependence principle, accordingly, requires it to be understood as directly justiciable. In other words, a third institutional implication of the Co-Dependence Model would be the recognition of standing (not only through judicial actions but also through political mechanisms) to any individual, group, or social movement, to challenge public and private activities that threaten the existence or reproduction of nature as we know it. The specifics of such an arrangement (which, perhaps, would embrace some aspects of the Extension Model)²⁷ would of course need to be spelled out, but some version of it would be required by the Co-Dependence Model. These three institutional implications would require new types of constitutional orders whose establishment would face important practical challenges. In the context of our current environmental crisis, however, it seems clear that if the current pattern of destruction continues, the capacities of action both for human communities and nature would be increasingly diminished. That is the reality that the Co-Dependence Model would seek to confront, while recognising that

-

su preámbulo, recalca que la Naturaleza ... 'es vital para nuestra existencia'. Aquí la Constitución avizora que la existencia misma de la humanidad está atada inevitablemente a la de la naturaleza, pues la concibe como parte de ella. Por tanto, los derechos de la naturaleza abarcan necesariamente el derecho de la humanidad a su existencia como especie" (Sentencia No. 1149-19-JP/21, para. 30). Those statements, even if taken as part of the ratio of the case, do not have the status of a fundamental constitutional principle of the kind we are suggesting here, and were in fact the subject of disagreement between judges. See Tănăsescu *et al.* (2024, 12-13).

Specific arrangements could include, for example, the 'rejective' and 'protective' popular initiatives (in a version that is not limited to sentient beings, proposed by Adenitire and Fassel (2025, 194). These initiatives would, for example, trigger popular votes on laws and policies proposed by government considered by groups of citizens to threaten the interests of nature; or put to the popular vote positive proposals related to the protection of nature. As in Adenitire and Fassel's (2025, 196) approach, the standing to present such an initiative could be narrowed in ways that prevent their abuse.

the mere existence of a particular type of constitution cannot magically guarantee the preservation of nature.

5. CONCLUSION

We started this paper by considering some of the practical and conceptual limits of what we called the Extension Model. Building on some examples, we argued that in the jurisdictions that are best known for having embraced it (i.e., New Zealand and Ecuador), the legal relationship between human beings and nature has not been fundamentally transformed. The potential impact of the extension of legal personality to certain rivers or mountains, for example, is limited by its own logic: only certain natural entities are attributed with legal personality and their actions are restricted to what legal persons can do. The extension of rights to 'nature' comes accompanied by an additional set of problems, for example, a lack of determinacy about what those rights require and their absorption under traditional principles of environmental law. Perhaps most importantly, both versions of the Extension Model assume the continued operation of the forms of political and economic organisation that underpin the present crisis.

In short, extending rights to nature, or treating certain natural entities as legal persons, is far from being a magic wand that moves us to a new stage in the relationship between human and non-human natural entities. This formula does not alter reality, as magic is supposed to do, but duplicates it. The question then became, and still is, what then? We have presented two alternative models. In so doing, our aim was to show, on the one hand, that the notion of 'the rights of nature' can play different roles within a constitutional order. Instead of rights simply being extended to nature, the realisation of the 'rights of nature' (understood as comprising both the rights of human and non-human entities) could be regarded as the main purpose of the constitutional order. This approach, the All-Encompassing Model, would involve a fundamental change in the way we conceive constitutions, require new types of political structures, clash with the prevailing economic system, and would likely result in unacceptable outcomes for human beings.

On the other hand, by presenting the Co-Dependence Model, we wanted to show that a transformation in the relationship between human and non-human natural entities does not necessarily need to begin (much less end) in some form of right recognition. It may be that what is needed is a different point of departure, one that is focused on the ways in which our own capacity for democratic political action depends on nature's continued existence and reproduction. At the most fundamental level, without a nature capable of sustaining human communities, there can't be democratically legitimate constitutions, constitutions susceptible to future of constituent authority. From the perspective of nature, the possibility of future exercises of constituent authority represents the potentiality of novel forms of constitutional organisation, forms that may contradict the existing political or economic interests, but advance further the realisation of what we called the co-dependence principle.

What can we learn from this analysis? First, the implementation of the rights of nature and the notion of legal personality to certain natural entities, despite their moral appeal, has been limited by their very features (lack of determinacy, selectivity) and influenced in important ways by the general (economic, constitutional, political) structures in which they

operate. Second and accordingly, achieving the objectives of the RoN movement (i.e., making possible a new relationship between humans and non-human natural entities, where the latter are worth protecting for their intrinsic value) may, perhaps counterintuitively, require us to think beyond – and perhaps bigger than - the notion of extending rights to nature or to specific natural entities. A shift in the way that society, legal systems and institutions have traditionally related to nature requires profound changes in our constitutional orders, changes that allow us to challenge prevailing forms of political and economic organisation. Third, and accordingly, our efforts may be better placed in pushing for constitutional changes that make democratically possible, now and in the future, fundamental transformations in the way we relate to nature.

References

- Adenitire, J.O., and Fassel, R., 2025. *Animals and the Constitution: Towards Sentience-Based Constitutionalism* [online]. Oxford University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/9780198910534.001.0001
- Atapattu, S., 2002. The right to healthy life or the right to die polluted: the emergence of human right to healthy environment under international law. *Tulane Environmental Law Journal* [online], 16(1), 65–126. Available at: https://journals.tulane.edu/elj/article/view/2083
- Barber, N.W., 2018. *The Principles of Constitutionalism* [online]. Oxford University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198808145.003.0001
- Bennett, J., 2010. *Vibrant Matter: A Political Ecology of Things* [online]. Durham: Duke University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1215/9780822391623
- Berry, T., 1999. The Great Work, Our Way into the Future. New York: Bell Tower.
- Bétaille, J., 2019. Rights of Nature: Why it Might Not Save the Entire World. *Journal for European Environmental & Planning Law* [online], 16(1), 35–64. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1163/18760104-01601004
- Bosselmann, K., 2010. Losing the Forest for the Trees: Environmental Reductionism in the Law. *Sustainability* [online], 2(8), 2424–2448. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/su2082424
- Bosselmann, K., and Taylor, P., 2017. *Ecological Approaches to Environmental Law* [online]. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4337/9781785362675
- Chibber, V., 2024. The Flight from Materialism. *Catalyst: A Journal of Theory & Strategy*, 8(3), 8–39.

- Cochrane, A., 2013. From Human Rights to Sentient Rights. *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy*, 16(5), 655-675.
- Colón-Ríos, J.I., 2012. Weak Constitutionalism: Democratic Legitimacy and the Question of Constituent Power [online]. Abingdon: Routledge. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203120132
- Colón-Ríos, J.I., 2020. *Constituent Power and the Law* [online]. Oxford University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198785989.001.0001
- Crutzen, P.J., 2006. The 'Anthropocene'. *In:* E. Ehlers and T. Krafft, eds., *Earth System Science in the Anthropocene* [online]. Berlin: Springer, 13–18. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-26590-2_3
- Cullinan, C., 2011. Wild Law: A Manifesto for Earth Justice. London: Bloomsbury.
- Cullinan, C., 2021. Earth jurisprudence. *In:* L. Rajamani and J. Peel, eds., *The Oxford Handbook of International Environmental Law* [online]. Oxford University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/law/9780198849155.003.0014
- de Lucia, V., 2013. Towards an ecological philosophy of law: a comparative discussion. *Journal of Human Rights and the Environment* [online], 4(2), 167–190. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4337/jhre.2013.02.03
- Donaldson, S., and Kymlicka, W., 2013. Zoopolis: A Political Theory of Animal Rights. Oxford University Press.
- Douzinas, C., 2019. *The Radical Philosophy of Rights* [online]. Abingdon: Routledge. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315775388
- Eckersley, R., 2004. *The Green State: Rethinking Democracy and Sovereignty* [online]. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/3364.001.0001
- Fyock, C., 2025. The Treadmill of Production, Sustainable Development Goals and International Investment Law: The Irreducibility of Growth and Environmental Regulation. *Berkeley Journal of International Law* [online], 43(1). Available at: https://ssrn.com/abstract=4807319
- Gilbert, J., et al., 2023. The Rights of Nature as a Legal Response to the Global Environmental Crisis? A Critical Review of International Law's 'Greening' Agenda. Netherlands Yearbook of International Law [online], 52, 47-74. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6265-587-4 3
- González-Serrano, M.X., 2024. Rights of Nature, an Ornamental Legal Framework: Water Extractivism and Backbone Rivers with Rights in Colombia. *The Journal of*

- Peasant Studies [online], 52(2), 322–342. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2024.2349228
- Grear, A., 2017. Anthropocene, Capitalocene, Chthulucene: Re-encountering environmental law and its 'subject' with Haraway and New Materialism. *In:* L. Kotzé, ed., *Re-Imagining Environmental Law and Governance for the Anthropocene*. Oxford: Hart, 77–79.
- Gudynas, E., 2012. Estado compensador y nuevos extractivismos: las ambivalencias del progresismo sudamericano. *Nueva Sociedad* [online], 237, 128-146. Available at: https://www.nuso.org/articulo/estado-compensador-y-nuevos-extractivismos-las-ambivalencias-del-progresismo-sudamericano/
- Jefferson, T., 1999. Political Writings. Cambridge University Press
- Jones, E., 2021. Posthuman International Law and the Rights of Nature. *Journal of Human Rights and the Environment* [online], 12, 76-101. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4337/jhre.2021.00.04
- Kahui, V., Armstrong, C.W., and Aanesen, M., 2024. Comparative analysis of Rights of Nature (RoN) case studies worldwide: Features of emergence and design. *Ecological Economics* [online], 221, 1–20. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2024.108193
- Kalyvas, A., 2018. Constituent power. *In:* J.M. Bernstein, A. Ophir and A.L. Stoler, eds., *Political Concept: A Critical Lexicon*. New York: Fordham University Press.
- Kauffman, C.M., and Martin, P.L., 2021. *The Politics of Rights of Nature: Strategies for Building a More Sustainable Future* [online]. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/13855.001.0001
- Killean, R., Gilbert, J., and Doran, P., 2024. Rights of Nature on the Island of Ireland: Origins, Drivers, and Implications for Future Rights of Nature Movements. *Transnational Environmental Law* [online], 13(1), 35–60. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/S2047102523000201
- Kim, R.E. and Bosselmann, K. (2015), Operationalizing Sustainable Development. Rev Euro Comp & Int Env Law, 24, 194-208. https://doi.org/10.1111/reel.12109
- Kotzé, J., and Kim, R.E., 2019. Earth System Law: The Juridical Dimensions of Earth System Governance. *Earth System Governance* [online], 1, 1-12. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esg.2019.100003
- Kotzé, L.J., 2016. *Global Environmental Constitutionalism in the Anthropocene* [online]. Oxford: Hart. Available at: https://doi.org/10.12662/2447-66410j.v13i17.p398-439.2015

- Kotzé, L.J., Du Toit, L., and French, D., 2021. Friend or Foe? International Environmental Law and Its Structural Complicity in the Anthropocene's Climate Injustices. *Oñati Socio-Legal Series* [online], 11(1), 180–206. Available at: https://doi.org/10.35295/osls.iisl/0000-0000-0000-1140
- Krämer, L., 2023. Rights of Nature in Europe: The Spanish Lagoon Mar Menor Becomes a Legal Person. *Journal for European Environmental & Planning Law* [online], 20, 5–23. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1163/18760104-20010003
- Kramm, M., 2025. A Tale of Two (and More) Models of Rights of Nature. *Environmental Ethics* [online], 47(2), 159-180. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5840/enviroethics20252696
- Kurki, V.A.J., 2019. *A Theory of Legal Personhood* [online]. Oxford University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198844037.001.0001
- Kurki, V.A.J., 2022. Can Nature Hold Rights? It's Not as Easy as You Think. *Transnational Environmental Law* [online], 11(3), 525–552. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/\$2047102522000358
- Latour, B., 2004. *Politics of Nature: How to Bring the Sciences into Democracy*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Lostal, M., and Colón-Ríos, J.I., 2025. Diagnóstico comparado de la puesta en práctica de derechos de la Naturaleza. *In:* R. Martinez Dalmau and A. Pedro Bueno, eds., *Las Políticas Ecológicas en el Contexto de la Globalización.* Valencia: Piero.
- Luke, T.W., 1995. On Environmentality: Geo-Power and Eco-Knowledge in the Discourses of Contemporary Environmentalism. *Cultural Critique* [online], 31, 57–81. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2307/1354445
- M'Gonigle, M., 2008. Green Legal Theory. *Ecological Economics* [online], 23(4), 34–38. Available at: https://doi.org/10.14512/oew.v23i4.594
- Magaña, P., 2022. The Political Representation of Nonhuman Animals. *Social Theory and Practice* [online], 48(4), 665-690. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5840/soctheorpract2022811171
- Merchant, C., 1989. *Ecological Revolutions: Nature, Gender and Science in New England*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Moore, J.W. ed., 2016. Anthropocene or Capitalocene?: Nature, History, and the Crisis of Capitalism. PM press.
- Newton, E., and Killean, R., 2024. Global rights of nature movements. *In:* R.C. Brears and J. Lindley, eds., *The Palgrave Handbook of Environmental Policy and Law*

- [online]. London: Palgrave, 1-18. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-30231-2_4-1
- Nixon, R., 2011. Slow Violence and the Environmentalism of the Poor [online]. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4159/harvard.9780674061194
- Paine, T., 1824. Address to the Addressers. *In:* P.S. Foner, ed., *The Political Writings of Thomas Paine*, *Vol. II.* Charlestown: George Davidson.
- Paine, T., 1953. The Rights of Man. *In:* F.N. Adkins, ed., *Common Sense and Other Writings*. New York: The American Heritage Series.
- Pelizzon, A., 2025. *Ecological Jurisprudence: The Law of Nature and the Nature of Law* [online]. Cham: Springer. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-96-0173-8
- Putzer, A., Cook, J., and Pollock, B., 2025. Putting the Rights of Nature on the Map. A Quantitative Analysis of Rights of Nature Initiatives across the World Second Edition. *Journal of Maps* [online], 21(1), 89–96. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/17445647.2024.2440376
- Rawson, A., and Mansfield, B., 2018. Producing Juridical Knowledge: 'Rights of Nature' or the Naturalization of Rights? *Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space* [online], 1(1-2), 99-119. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848618763807
- Reeves, J.A., and Peters, T.D., 2021. Responding to anthropocentrism with anthropocentrism: the biopolitics of environmental personhood. *Griffith Law Review* [online], 30(3), 474–504. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/10383441.2022.2037882
- Sartori, G., 1962. Constitutionalism: A Preliminary Discussion. *American Political Science Review* [online], 56(4), 853-864. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2307/1952788
- Shaji George, A., Hovan George, A., and Gabrio Martin, A.S., 2023. The Environmental Impact of AI: A Case Study of Water Consumption by Chat GPT. *Partners Universal International Innovation Journal* [online], 1(2), 97–104. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7855594
- Sieyès, E., 2003. What is the Third Estate? *In:* M. Sonenscher, ed., *Sieyès. Political Writings*. Indianapolis: Hackett.
- Stone, C., 1972. Should trees have standing? Towards legal rights for natural objects. Southern California Law Review, 45, 450–501.
- Stutzin, G., 1984. Un imperativo ecológico: Reconocer los Derechos a la Naturaleza. *Ambiente y desarrollo*, 97-114.

- Tănăsescu, M., 2022. *Understanding the Rights of Nature: A Critical Introduction*. Bielefeld: Transcript.
- Tănăsescu, M., et al., 2024. Rights of Nature and Rivers in Ecuador's Constitutional Court. *The International Journal of Human Rights* [online], 1–23. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2024.2314536
- Tienhaara, K., 2018. Regulatory Chill in a Warming World: The Threat to Climate Policy Posed by Investor-State Dispute Settlement. *Transnational Environmental Law* [online], 7(2), 229–250. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/S2047102517000309
- Turner, S., 2014. *A Global Environmental Right* [online]. London: Routledge. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203070154
- UN General Assembly, 2024. *Report of Secretary-General: Harmony with Nature.* A/79/253, 29 July [online]. Available at: https://docs.un.org/en/A/79/253
- Watts, J., 2024. UK government can never accept idea nature has rights, delegate tells UN. *The Guardian* [online], 22 February. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2024/feb/22/uk-government-can-never-accept-idea-nature-has-rights-delegate-tells-un
- Witze, A. 2024. Geologists reject the Anthropocene as Earth's new epoch after 15 years of debate. *Nature* [online], v. 627. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-376520242024962
- World Bank, 2021. *The Changing Wealth of Nations 2021: Managing Assets for the Future* [online]. Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/entities/publication/e1399ed3-ebe2-51fb-b2bc-b18a7f1aaaed
- Yilmaz Vastardis, A., 2024. The inherent incompatibility of international investment law with a just green transition. *In:* B. Choudhury, ed., *Global Corporations and Sustainability* [online]. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4958858
- Zewe, A., 2025. Explained: Generative AI's environmental impact. *MIT News* [online], 17 January. Available at: https://news.mit.edu/2025/explained-generative-ai-environmental-impact-0117

Legislation

- 63G-31-101, Utah Code Annotated 1953.
- Ley 19/2022, de 30 de septiembre, para el reconocimiento de personalidad jurídica a la laguna del Mar Menor y su Cuenca. *BOE* núm. 237, 3 October 2022.

Te Awa Tupua (Whanganui River Claims Settlement) Act 2017 (Public Act no. 7).

Te Ture Whakatupua mō Te Kāhui Tupua 2025/Taranaki Maunga Collective Redress Act 2025 (2025 No 1).

Te Urewera Act 2014 (Public Act no. 51).

Constitutions

Constitución de la República de Ecuador, 2008, art. 71. *Registro Oficial*, 449, 20 October 2008.

Constitución Política de Colombia, 1991.

Case Law

Ecuadorian Constitutional Court, 2021. River diversion case, Sentencia No. 32-17-IN/21, 9 June, para. 67.

Ecuadorian Constitutional Court, 2024. Los Cedros case, Sentencia No. 1149-19-JP/21.

Ecuadorian Constitutional Court, 2024. Marine ecosystems case, Sentencia 95-20-IN/24, 28 November.

Inter-American Court of Human Rights, Advisory Opinion AO-32/25, 29 May 2025.

Tribunal Constitucional de España, 2024. Sentencia 142/2024, de 20 de noviembre. BOE núm. 311, 26 December.

US Supreme Court, 1972. Sierra Club v. Rogers Clark Ballard Morton, Secretary of the Interior, et al. 405 U.S. 727, 19 April.